Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-11-2013

Barnes v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40092

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Petitioner appeals from the dismissal of his petition for post conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing which raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim concerning her attorney's conflict of interest due to concurrent representation with the co-defendant.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

The facts are succinctly described in the substitute unpublished opinion issued in the direct appeal, *State v. Barnes*, Docket No. 37995 (Ct.App. 5/4/2012):

Following a report of concerns that Barnes and her boyfriend, Gregory Klundt, were manufacturing methamphetamine in their shared residence, law enforcement obtained a warrant to search their house. The search revealed a number of items associated with the manufacture of methamphetamine. The state charged Barnes with conspiracy to traffic in methamphetamine by manufacture, I.C. §§ 37-2732B(a)(3) and 18-204; trafficking in methamphetamine by manufacture, I.C. §§ 37-2732B(a)(3) and 18-204; and possession of a controlled substance, pseudoephedrine, with intent to manufacture methamphetamine, I.C. § 37-2732(a)(1)(A). After trial, a jury found Barnes guilty. Barnes was sentenced to concurrent determinate terms of five years for each count. Barnes appeals.

[Footnotes]

- ¹ Klundt was also charged with the same crimes. The district court joined Barnes's and Klundt's cases for trial. However, the cases were not consolidated on appeal.
- 2 Barnes was also found guilty of manufacture of a controlled substance where a child is present, I.C. § 37-2737A, and was sentenced to a consecutive indeterminate two-year term. However, she does not challenge this judgment of conviction or sentence on appeal.

Id. p. 2.

While the Court of Appeals initially vacated the conviction on Count Three due to a double jeopardy violation, upon rehearing it affirmed all of the convictions and sentences. (R. p. 100.)

Ms. Barnes also filed the instant pro se petition for post conviction relief. (R. p. 5-9.) Counsel was appointed. (R. p. 11.) Counsel ultimately filed an amended petition for post conviction relief and affidavit of Petitioner in support. (R. p. 19-23, 24-27.) The state filed an answer and a motion for summary disposition as to some, but not all of the claims and conceded some needed to be resolved at an evidentiary hearing. (R. p. 28-29; 39-40.) Following a hearing in which the Petitioner withdrew some claims, the court entered its order dismissing them but setting the rest for evidentiary hearing. (R. p. 42.)

At the end of the evidentiary hearing the court set a briefing schedule and Petitioner and the Respondent both submitted post-trial briefs. (R. p. 45-90; 91-98.)

The court issued its written order denying post conviction relief. (R. p. 99-112.) A written judgment was entered. (R. p. 113.)

Appellant timely appeals. (R. p. 115.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Whether the district court erred when it denied post conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing, rejecting Petitioner's assertion that she had received ineffective assistance of counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from her attorney's concurrent representation of a co-defendant.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT SUMMARILY DENIED THE POST-CONVICTION RELIEF PETITION BECAUSE PETITIONER'S ATTORNEY WAS BURDENED BY A CONFLICT OF INTEREST DUE TO HIS CONCURRENT REPRESENTATION OF A CO-DEFENDANT

A. Standard of Review at Trial and on Appeal

The relevant standards were comprehensively explained in *Medina v.*State, 132 Idaho 722, 979 P.2d 124 (Ct.App. 1999):

In order to prevail in a post-conviction proceeding, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence the allegations upon which the request for post-conviction relief is based. *Follinus v. State*, 127 Idaho 897, 908 P.2d 590 (Ct. App. 1995); *see also* I.C. § 19-4907 (stating that all rules and statutes applicable in civil proceedings are available to the parties in a postconviction relief case). Once the district court has denied or granted the post conviction application following a hearing, the evidence must be viewed most favorably to the trial court's findings. *Reynolds v. State*, 126 Idaho 24, 28, 878 P.2d 198, 202 (Ct. App. 1994).

The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. *Larkin v. State*, 115 Idaho 72, 764 P.2d 439 (Ct. App. 1988). On appeal, findings of fact made by the trial court shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous. I.R.C.P. 52 (a); *Russell v. State*, 118 Idaho 65, 794 P.2d 654 (Ct. App. 1990). Findings supported by competent and substantial evidence produced at the hearing will not be disturbed. *Sanchez v. State*, 127 Idaho 709, 711, 905 P.2d 642, 644 (Ct. App. 1995). However, this Court freely reviews the legal conclusions drawn by the trial court from the facts found. *Id*.

Id. at p. 724-725.

B. <u>Standard of Review Regarding a Claim of Ineffective Assistance of</u> Counsel

The standard for evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is well established, being set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The "benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Id.* at 686.

Strickland set forth a two-prong test which a defendant must satisfy in order to be entitled to relief. The defendant must demonstrate both that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Id.* at 687-88; *State v. Charboneau*, 116 Idaho 129 (1989); *Gibson v. State*, 110 Idaho 631 (1986).

C. <u>The Evidentiary Hearing and the Court's Rulings</u>

The background of the claims is explained in the court's Opinion and Order Re: Post Conviction Relief (hereinafter Opinion):

In the underlying criminal case Barnes was initially represented by John Redal. Redal also represented the co-defendant, Gregory Klundt. The joint representation continued through the motion to suppress which was made on behalf of both defendants and which was denied. Following the decision on the motion to suppress Redal withdrew as Barnes' attorney and Michael Palmer was appointed to represent her. Palmer substituted in as counsel for Barnes on May 7, 2010. The joint trial of both defendants began on May 25, 2010. One of the issues at trial concerned the results of the prosecution's re-testing of evidence by the state drug laboratory

with the results provided to Barnes' attorney just days prior to the trial.

Opinion p. 2. (R. p. 100.)

Petitioner alleged various claims arising from the above situation. The most important claim, and the only one pursued in this appeal, is ineffective assistance of counsel due to the conflict of interest arising from counsel representing both co-defendants through the majority of the case. This led to additional problems, because counsel's late advice of his conflict of interest caused Petitioner to obtain appointed counsel just weeks before the jury trial. This in turn led to appointed counsel being unprepared for the trial (which he conceded at the evidentiary hearing) and his specific failings included his failure to have the inconsistent lab results retested, his failure to interview and call requested witnesses, and his failure to move to sever the co-defendants' trials. But again, Appellant is only pursuing the main conflict of interest claim in this appeal.

Petitioner's post trial brief did a good job of explaining the relevant evidence was produced at the evidentiary hearing.

... Ms. Barnes testified that she and her codefendant, Greg Klundt, were charged with the same crimes encompassing the same basic underlying criminal conduct; drug trafficking in methamphetamine or amphetamine by manufacture, controlled substance manufacture, deliver or posses when children are present, possession of a controlled substance with intent to manufacture methamphetamine, and drug trafficking in methamphetamine. The manufacturing and trafficking offenses carried with them a mandatory minimum period of imprisonment of five years. Ms. Barnes testified that John Redal represented her and her codefendant until May 4, 2010, when Mr. Redal withdrew as attorney of record. Ms. Barnes indicated that Mr. Redal met with her and her codefendant but never discussed the possibility of testifying

against her co-defendant, or presenting evidence of limited culpability based on a defense implicating her co-defendant as the principal. Mr. Redal failed to alert the Court to a potential conflict of interest in Ms. Barnes' case and the Court did not inquire about the conflict of interest between the two jointly represented co-defendants.

Rather, as testified to by Mr. Redal, he withdrew as counsel mere weeks before trial when he determined that the case was bound for trial and representation of both co-defendants would be problematic. Mr. Michael Palmer testified that he was appointed on May 7, 2010, and likely did not obtain information relating to the case until days later. Trial was set for May 25, 2010. Ms. Barnes testified that she only met with Mr. Palmer once before the pre-trial conference on May 21, 2010, and at that fifteen minute meeting Mr. Palmer had not had an opportunity to review the discovery in the case and was unable to discuss with Ms. Barnes the state's evidence. Ms. Barnes testified that she met with Mr. Palmer the day before the pretrial conference on May 21, 2010 and then just moments before the her [sic] trial began on May 25, 2010. Ms. Barnes indicated that at she had requested Mr. Palmer to seek a continuance at the pretrial conference but was told the prosecutor was ready so the case was going to proceed. Ms. Barnes gave Mr. Palmer and Mr. Redal the names of potential witnesses but there is no indication that Mr. Palmer or Mr. Redal made any effort to investigate or interview her witnesses. Ms. Barnes testified that Mr. Palmer never went over the state's evidence with her, specifically. the photos taken of the inside of her home and used as evidence at trial, nor did he discuss her trial rights. Mr. Palmer testified that the state disclosed, the day before trial, lab results which were positive for the presence of methamphetamine where previously the results had been negative. Mr. Palmer did not seek independent testing of the substances given the conflicting laboratory results, nor did he seek a continuance of the trial due to the late disclosure of the laboratory results.

Mr. Palmer did not meet with any of Ms. Barnes' witnesses, did not use the assistance of an investigator, did not attempt to have independent testing of substances, and inadequately educated himself on the manufacturing methamphetamine process in order to intelligently and effectively cross examine the state's expert witnesses. Furthermore, Mr. Palmer did not move to have the case severed for trial. Mr. Palmer testified that proceeding to trial with Ms. Barnes' codefendant was error, and prejudiced Ms. Barnes' ability to present a defense.

Brief in Support of Petition for Post Conviction Relief, p. 5-7. (R. p. 49-51.)

Additionally, the court's Opinion described the relevant evidence presented as follows:

At the post-conviction trial Redal testified that he was retained by Klundt and Barnes in 2009. He did not recall whether he initially discussed potential conflicts of interest with them. It was his usual practice to do so, but he could not specifically recall doing so in this case. When it became apparent that the cases were going to trial he discussed the conflict of interest with Barnes, and she elected to have the Kootenai County Public Defender's office represent her. Palmer was then appointed.

Attorney Anne Taylor testified she believes it is a conflict of interest to represent two individuals charged with the same crimes, that she would have moved to sever the trial of the co-defendants and if, as was the case here, the state had evidence of inconsistent laboratory drug tests she would have advised the client and requested a continuance of the trial.

Palmer testified that based on his late entry into the case he did not have time to prepare for trial and that when he became aware the state had inconsistent laboratory drug tests he should have requested a continuance and sought an independent drug test. He testified he did not know why he did not do so in this case. He testified it was his usual practice to request a severance of trials for co-defendants, and he could not recall why he did not do so here.

Barnes testified she met with Redal only three times, and the substance of the case against her was not discussed. Redal never discussed the possibility of her testifying against Klundt. Redal never told her there was a conflict of interest until after the decision on the motion to suppress, and she then applied for the public defender to represent her. She met with Palmer on May 10 or May 11 and again prior to trial. She testified that trial strategy and witnesses were not discussed. . . .

Opinion p. 3-4. (R. p. 101-102.)

In its findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court found as follows:

Barnes contends she is entitled to a presumption of prejudice. This is not a case where there has been a complete denial of counsel at a critical stage of trial. The record shows that Redal, at the suppression hearing, and Palmer, at trial, subjected the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing. Competent

counsel could, and did, provide effective assistance. The claim based on presumptive prejudice is denied.

Redal represented Barnes through the suppression hearing. No claim has been made that Redal failed to effectively represent her at that hearing. The claim against Redal is that his joint representation of Klundt and Barnes created a conflict of interest prejudicing Barnes. No facts were presented by Barnes to show that in connection with the suppression hearing her interests were different from those of Klundt or that Redal failed to present facts or arguments on her behalf at the suppression hearing. *Daugherty v. State*, 102 Idaho 782, 640 P.2d 1183 (1982) held:

A lawyer or law firm should carefully consider the potential for conflict of interest before representing multiple defendants in a criminal case. However, representation of multiple criminal defendants does not constitute a "per se" violation of the constitutional guaranty of effective assistance of counsel. As the Idaho Supreme Court stated in *Roles* [v. *State*, 100 Idaho 717, 719, 604 P.2d 731 (1979)]:

Absent a showing there was at least a possible conflict of interest between the co-defendants at the time the joint representation existed which may have inhibited the attorney's ability to act for the best interests of each codefendant at all times during that representation, there is no basis for the defendant's claim that his sixth amendment right to effective counsel was abridged.

Id. 102 Idaho at 783-84, 640 P .2d at 1184-85 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In *Roles v. State,* 100 Idaho 717, 604 P.2d 731 (1979) an attorney represented co-defendants. Roles alleged on post-conviction relief that this constituted a conflict of interest denying him the effective assistance of counsel. The Court rejected this contention, holding:

However, while an actual conflict of interest might have occurred if Roles had proceeded to trial with his original court appointed counsel, his guilty plea prevented that conflict from ever materializing. Joint representation of codefendants does not of itself constitute denial of a criminal defendant's right to effective counsel.

Id. at 719, 604 P.2d at 733.

Barnes has not shown that "at the time of the joint representation" a conflict of interest existed which inhibited Redal's ability to act in her best interests.

Opinion p. 7-9 (R. p. 107-109.)

C. The Court Erred in Denying Post Conviction Relief

Appellant asserts that the district court erred when it summarily dismissed the petition for post conviction relief which was based on the attorney's conflict of interest arising from concurrently representing co-defendants. The relevant law as explained by various Idaho cases is described below. First is the explanation by the Idaho Supreme Court in *State v. Lovelace*, 140 Idaho 53 (2003):

The right to conflict-free representation derives from the Sixth Amendment as applied to the states by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 68, 77 L. Ed. 158, 53 S. Ct. 55 (1932). This right has been accorded "not for its own sake, but because of the effect it has on the ability of the accused to receive a fair trial." *Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162,____, 152 L. Ed. 2d 291, 122 S. Ct. 1237 (2002), citing *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657, 104 S. Ct. 2039 (1984). It follows from this that assistance which is ineffective in preserving fairness does not meet the constitutional mandate. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984).

Whenever a trial court knows or reasonably should know that a particular conflict may exist, the trial court has a duty of inquiry. See Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 272-73, 67 L.Ed.2d 220, 101 S. Ct. 1097 (1981); Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 347, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333, 100 S. Ct. 1708 (1980). The scope and nature of the affirmative duty of the trial judge to assure that criminal defendants are not deprived of the effective assistance of counsel by joint representation of conflicting interests is second only to the concern as to how strong a showing of conflict must be made before a court will conclude that the defendants have been deprived of their right to effective assistance. See Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 483, 55 L. Ed. 2d 426, 98 S. Ct. 1173 (1978). "In order to establish a violation of the Sixth Amendment, a defendant who

raised no objection at trial must demonstrate that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." *Cuyler*, 446 U.S. at 348. However, "until a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance." *Id.* at 350.

Id. p. 60, 61.

The relevant law was also discussed by the Idaho Court of Appeals in State v. Koch, 116 Idaho 571 (Ct. App. 1989):

The multiple defendant issue requires more elaborate discussion. Matsuura represented both Koch and a co-defendant. Under the Sixth Amendment, an accused has the right to representation free from conflicts of interest. *Wood v. Georgia*, 450 U.S. 261, 271, 101 S.Ct. 1097, 1103, 67 L.Ed.2d 220 (1981). Joint representation is not a per se violation of this right. *Holloway v. Arkansas*, 435 U.S. 475, 482, 98 S.Ct. 1173, 1177, 55 L.Ed.2d 426 (1978); *Roles v. State*, 100 Idaho 717, 719, 604 P.2d 731, 733 (1979). However, the courts have recognized that "a possible conflict [of interest] inheres in almost every instance of multiple representation." *Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335, 348, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 1718, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980) (emphasis added).

Consequently, a conflict of interest arising from an attorney's representation of multiple defendants has been expressly excepted from the requirement that actual prejudice be shown. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686, 688, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. This exception reflects the Supreme Court's holding in Cuyler, that prejudice is presumed when defense counsel is burdened by an actual conflict of interest. However the narrowness of this exception must be emphasized. A presumption of prejudice is triggered only by an actual conflict of interest. The conflict itself must be shown; it will not be presumed. As stated in Cuyler, prejudice is presumed only if the defendant demonstrates that counsel "actively represented conflicting interests" and "that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." 446 U.S. at 346, 348, 100 S.Ct. at 1717, 1718. Thus, there is not a double presumption of conflict and prejudice in a multiple representation case. McNeeley v. State, 111 Idaho 200, 722 P.2d 1067 (Ct.App.1986).

Id. p. 574.

The district court's ruling on the conflict issue will be repeated for this Court's convenience:

Redal represented Barnes through the suppression hearing. No claim has been made that Redal failed to effectively represent her at that hearing. The claim against Redal is that his joint representation of Klundt and Barnes created a conflict of interest prejudicing Barnes. No facts were presented by Barnes to show that in connection with the suppression hearing her interests were different from those of Klundt or that Redal failed to present facts or arguments on her behalf at the suppression hearing. *Daugherty v. State*, 102 Idaho 782, 640 P.2d 1183 (1982) held:

A lawyer or law firm should carefully consider the potential for conflict of interest before representing multiple defendants in a criminal case. However, representation of multiple criminal defendants does not constitute a "per se" violation of the constitutional guaranty of effective assistance of counsel. As the Idaho Supreme Court stated in *Roles* [v. *State*, 100 Idaho 717, 719, 604 P.2d 731 (1979)]:

Absent a showing there was at least a possible conflict of interest between the co-defendants at the time the joint representation existed which may have inhibited the attorney's ability to act for the best interests of each codefendant at all times during that representation, there is no basis for the defendant's claim that his sixth amendment right to effective counsel was abridged.

Id. 102 Idaho at 783-84, 640 P .2d at 1184-85 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In *Roles v. State*, 100 Idaho 717, 604 P.2d 731 (1979) an attorney represented co-defendants. Roles alleged on post-conviction relief that this constituted a conflict of interest denying him the effective assistance of counsel. The Court rejected this contention, holding:

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