UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-7-2013

Barnes v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40092

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Marjory Ann Barnes appeals from the district court's order denying her

petition for post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing.

Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

The Idaho Court of Appeals described the facts underlying Barnes'

criminal convictions as follows:

Following a report of concerns that Barnes and her Klundt,^[FN] boyfriend, were Gregory manufacturing methamphetamine in their shared residence, law enforcement obtained a warrant to search their house. The search revealed a number of items associated with the manufacture of methamphetamine. The state charged Barnes with conspiracy to traffic in methamphetamine by manufacture, I.C. §§ 37-2732B(a)(3) and 18-204; trafficking in methamphetamine by manufacture, I.C. §§ 37-2732B(a)(3) and 18-204; and possession of a controlled pseudoephedrine, substance. with intent to manufacture methamphetamine, I.C. § 37-2732(a)(1)(A). After trial, a jury found Barnes guilty. Barnes was sentenced to concurrent determinate terms of five years for each count.

FN Klundt was also charged with the same crimes. The district court joined Barnes's and Klundt's cases for trial. However, the cases were not consolidated on appeal.

State v. Barnes, Docket No. 37995, 2012 Unpublished Opinion No. 305S at p.2

(Idaho App. May 4, 2012).¹ "Barnes was also found guilty of manufacture of a

¹ Pursuant to Barnes' motion, the Idaho Supreme Court has entered an order taking judicial notice of the following transcripts from Barnes' criminal case: (1) suppression hearing held on March 18, 2010; (2) the opening and closing statements from the jury trial; (3) the jury trial; and (4) the sentencing hearing held on July 29, 2010. (Order Granting Motion to Take Judicial Notice, dated February 25, 2013.) The Court has not taken judicial notice of the Clerk's Record or exhibits from Barnes' criminal case. (See id.)

controlled substance where a child is present, I.C. § 37-2737A, and was sentenced to a consecutive indeterminate two-year term." <u>Id.</u> at p.2 n.2.

In her criminal case, Barnes was originally represented by John Redal, who also represented Klundt. (R., p.100.) "The joint representation continued through the motion to suppress which was made on behalf of both defendants and which was denied." (R., p.100.) "Following the decision on the motion to suppress Redal withdrew as Barnes' attorney and Michael Palmer was appointed to represent her." (R., p.100.) Palmer appeared on May 7, 2010, and the trial began on May 25, 2010. (R., p.100.) As noted, a jury convicted Barnes of the charged offenses. Barnes' convictions were affirmed on appeal. <u>Barnes, supra</u>.

While her appeal was pending, Barnes filed a *pro se* petition for postconviction relief alleging numerous claims of ineffective assistance of counsel against both Redal and Palmer and one claim of prosecutorial misconduct. (R., pp.5-9.) Barnes' petition included a request for counsel, which the court granted. (R., pp.8, 11.)

The state filed an answer and a motion for summary disposition after which post-conviction counsel filed an amended petition again alleging several ineffective assistance of counsel claims and a misconduct claim. (R., pp.13-16, 19-23.) The state filed an answer to the amended petition and Barnes filed a response to the state's initial motion for summary dismissal. (R., pp.28-33.) The state filed a reply, seeking summary dismissal of Barnes' claims with the exception of three ineffective assistance of counsel claims, which the state "concede[d] . . . should be resolved by evidentiary hearing." (R., pp. 34-35, 39-

The court held a hearing on the state's motion for summary dismissal after which the court ordered an evidentiary hearing on the following claims: (1) "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to communicate"; (2) "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to advise [Barnes] of her rights"; (3) "Ineffective assistance of counsel for preventing [Barnes] from presenting her defense";" (4) "Ineffective assistance of counsel by . . . engaging in representation of [Barnes] while under a conflict of interest"; and (5) "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to adequately prepare for [Barnes'] defense at trial." (R., pp.21, 42; see generally Tr., pp.10-20.) Barnes withdrew the remaining claims in her amended petition and they were dismissed. (R., p.42.)

After the evidentiary hearing, the court entered an order denying relief and a judgment dismissing Barnes' petition. (R., pp.99-113.) Barnes filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.115-116.)

40.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Barnes states the issue on appeal as:

Whether the district court erred when it denied post conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing, rejecting Petitioner's assertion that she had received ineffective assistance of counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from her attorney's concurrent representation of a co-defendant?

(Appellant's Brief, p.3.)

The state rephrases the issue on appeal as:

Has Barnes failed to show error in the district court's denial of her petition for post-conviction relief following an evidentiary hearing?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Barnes Has Failed To Show Error In the District Court's Denial Of Her Petition For Post-Conviction Relief Following An Evidentiary Hearing

A. Introduction

Although Barnes alleged a number of claims in her amended petition, all of which were dismissed, on appeal she only challenges dismissal of one of those claims. Specifically, Barnes "is only pursuing the main conflict of interest claim in this appeal." (Appellant's Brief, p.6.) With respect to that claim, Barnes contends the district court erred in denying relief because, she argues, Redal had an actual conflict of interest during the period of time he represented both her and her co-defendant, and, as a result, he failed to advise her to plead guilty. (Appellant's Brief, p.16.) Barnes' claim fails because there is no evidence that Redal actively represented conflicting interests much less that she was prejudiced as a result of any alleged conflict. To the contrary, the record shows that Redal acted to avoid a potential conflict of interest. Accordingly, Barnes has failed to show error in the district court's dismissal of her conflict of interest claim.

B. Standard Of Review

"Applications for post-conviction relief under the UPCPA initiate civil proceedings in which, like a civil plaintiff, the applicant must prove his or her allegations by a preponderance of the evidence." <u>McKay v. State</u>, 148 Idaho 567, 570, 225 P.3d 700, 703 (2010) (citing <u>Hauschulz v. State</u>, 144 Idaho 834, 838, 172 P.3d 1109, 1113 (2007); I.C.R. 57(c)).

When the district court conducts an evidentiary hearing and enters

findings of fact and conclusions of law, an appellate court will disturb the findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous, but will freely review the conclusions of law drawn by the district court from those facts. <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 132 Idaho 274, 276-77, 971 P.2d 727, 729-730 (1998). A trial court's decision that a post-conviction petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990).

The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 139 Idaho 95, 97, 73 P.3d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2003).

C. <u>Barnes Failed To Meet Her Burden Of Establishing She Was Entitled To</u> <u>Post-Conviction Relief Based On An Alleged Conflict Of Interest</u>

"Joint representation of defendants is not per se ineffective assistance of counsel." <u>State v. Hairston</u>, 133 Idaho 496, 511, 988 P.2d 1170, 1185 (1999) (citation omitted). Rather, a defendant seeking relief based on an alleged conflict of interest, to which she did not object at trial, must demonstrate that counsel "actively represented conflicting interests" and that the conflict of interest actually affected the adequacy of the lawyer's performance. <u>Hairston</u>, 133 Idaho at 511, 988 P.2d at 1185; <u>see also Cuyler v. Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. 335, 348 (1980) (where defendant alleges a conflict based upon his counsel's simultaneous representation of defendant and the prosecutor's key witness, defendant must demonstrate that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance); <u>State v. Severson</u>, 147 Idaho 694, 703, 215 P.3d 414, 423 (2009)

("Whether a trial court's failure to adequately inquiry, but the defendant did not object to the conflict at trial, the defendant's conviction will only be reversed if he or she can prove that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance.") An actual conflict is defined by its effect on counsel, not by whether there is a "mere theoretical division of loyalties." <u>Mickens v. Taylor</u>, 535 U.S. 162, 171, 172 n.5 (2002). "[T]he possibility of conflict is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction." <u>Dunlap v. State</u>, 141 Idaho 50, 62, 106 P.3d 376, 388 (2004) (citations omitted). Absent such a showing, a defendant is not entitled to reversal of her conviction. <u>Mickens</u>, 535 U.S. at 173-74; <u>Burger v.</u> Kemp, 483 U.S. 776, 785 (1987).

At the evidentiary hearing, Redal testified there are circumstances in which he has been asked to represent two people charged with the same or similar offenses. (Tr., p.27, L.20 – p.28, L.10.) In those cases, Redal "inform[s] the clients of the potential conflicts and things that could arise." (Tr., p.28, Ls.18-20.) Redal elaborated:

I generally [inform them] in a verbal conversation because, when that issue comes up, you obviously see the issue when they're both sitting in your office because they're asking you to represent both of them. So you generally go over -- the main one that I always go over is it could become a problem if the State were to ask one of you, "I'll dismiss your case if you agree to testify against the other party." And then I said that seriously creates a conflict. And if something like that ever were to happen, then I always -- I inform the client that I probably would not represent both of them after that offer had been made.

(Tr., p.28, L.22 – p.29, L.8.)

Redal testified that although he did not specifically recall discussing the potential conflict issue with Barnes and Klundt, he believed he did because "that

would be a standard thing that [he] would do." (Tr., p.29, L.16 – p.30, L.13.) Redal explained that he ultimately withdrew from representing Barnes after concluding he "should only continue to represent one of them because it was clear the case was going to be going to trial." (Tr., p.30, L.25 – p.31, L.6.) Redal further explained:

And given the nature of the case, oftentimes when you get ready for something like that, you can point the finger at the other party and blame them since they were both there, and one of them would. And I believe at that time Gregory Klundt was still in custody and [Barnes] was out. And we talked about that, and [Barnes] felt that it was best for her to go to the public defender's office.

(Tr., p.31, Ls.6-14.) Redal, therefore, withdrew from Barnes' representation and Palmer was appointed to represent her with Redal continuing to represent Klundt. (Tr., p.31, Ls.15-16; see R., p.100.)

Redal's testimony demonstrates his representation was entirely consistent with his obligations under the Sixth Amendment. Redal represented both Barnes and Klundt through the suppression hearing and there is no evidence that their interests were inconsistent up to that point. In fact, Redal testified that he did not believe his dual representation "impacted" either Barnes or Klundt and that, if he "would have thought that, [he] would have withdrawn." (Tr., p.34, Ls.8-14.) It is well-established that a court may rely on counsel's statements regarding the existence of a conflict. <u>Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. at 346-47 ("Absent special circumstances, therefore, trial courts may assume either that multiple representation entails no conflict or that the lawyer and his clients knowingly accept such risk of conflict as may exist."); <u>State v</u>: Koch, 116 Idaho 571, 574,

777 P.2d 1244, 1247 (Ct. App. 1989) ("When neither the defendant nor his lawyer objects to concurrent representation of a co-defendant, the trial court generally is entitled to assume that no conflict exists or that the defendant knowingly has accepted such a risk.").

With respect to Redal's joint representation, the district court found : "No facts were presented by Barnes to show that in connection with the suppression hearing her interests were different from those of Klundt or that Redal failed to present facts or arguments on her behalf at the suppression hearing." (R., p.108.) Barnes does not challenge the court's finding in this regard, but instead criticizes the court's statement, arguing the court "seems to misunderstand the claim." (Appellant's Brief, p.13.) Barnes perceives a misunderstanding because she contends:

The point is not that the co-defendants had different interests at the suppression hearing or that Redal failed to do something at the suppression hearing due to the conflict. Rather, the point is that throughout the joint representation the co-defendants had different interests and the attorney's ability to act in the best interest of Ms. Barnes was inhibited by the attorney's duties to Mr. Klundt.

(Appellant's Brief, p.13.) According to Barnes, she and Klundt had divergent interests because, she claims, she was less culpable than Klundt and it was in her "best interest" to "enter into an early plea bargain in the case which would avoid the 5 year mandatory minimum sentence and/or the two year mandatory consecutive sentence." (Appellant's Brief, pp.13-15.) Barnes' arguments fail for at least two reasons.

First, Barnes is incorrect in her assertion that the court's finding regarding the lack of any evidence of a conflict in relation to the suppression hearing is

irrelevant. Barnes' failure to present any evidence that Redal actively represented conflicting interests in the context of the suppression hearing demonstrates the absence of any actual conflict during the period of joint representation. In the end, Redal did precisely what he should have. Upon realizing that the case was going to trial, and that Barnes may want to "point the finger" at Klundt, he advised her to get a different attorney. (Tr., p.31, Ls.3-14.) As a result, Barnes got precisely the remedy she would have been entitled to at the time had an actual conflict existed. <u>See Holloway v. Arkansas</u>, 435 U.S. 475 (1978).

Second, Barnes' argument is predicated on a theoretical conflict that is unsupported by any evidence, rather than actual conflict, which she was required to prove. Barnes suggests that if Redal had not jointly represented both her and Klundt prior to trial, Redal would or should have secured a plea agreement for her. Barnes, however, presented no evidence of such. She did not elicit any testimony from Redal on this point, nor did she elicit any testimony from Palmer that there was a plea offer she could have taken. (See generally Tr., pp.35-40, 64-94.) If anything, Barnes' testimony that neither Redal nor Palmer discussed "an offer of settlement" demonstrates no such offer existed to discuss, which testimony was consistent with Redal's testimony that if he represented codefendants and an offer was made to one, he "would not represent both of them after that offer had been made." (Tr., p.29, Ls.1-8; p.102, Ls.11-13.)

Because Barnes failed to meet her burden of showing an actual conflict of interest, much less that Redal's performance was adversely affected by an actual

conflict of interest, she has failed to show error in the dismissal of her postconviction petition and her conflict of interest claim.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's judgment dismissing Barnes' petition for post-conviction relief.